

REGULAR MEETING AGENDA

Date: 7/16/2019
Time: 7:00 p.m.
City Council Chambers
701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025

EARLY STAFF REPORT RELEASE NOTICE

Pursuant to the requirements of Cal. Gov't Code, the following staff report is being released at least 15 days in advance of the regular City Council meeting:

Approve the terms of a successor agreement between the City of Menlo Park and the Menlo Park Police Sergeants Association; and amend the citywide salary schedule effective July 21, 2019 (Staff Report #19-151-CC)

Members of the public can view electronic agendas and staff reports by accessing the City website at menlopark.org/agenda and can receive email notification of agenda and staff report postings by subscribing to the "Notify Me" service at menlopark.org/notifyme Agendas and staff reports may also be obtained by contacting the City Clerk's Office at 650-330-6620. (Posted 7/1/2019.)

AGENDA ITEM H-4 Administrative Services



STAFF REPORT

City Council
Meeting Date: 7/16/2019
Staff Report Number: 19-151-CC

Regular Business: Approve the terms of a successor agreement

between the City of Menlo Park and the Menlo Park Police Sergeants Association; and amend the citywide salary schedule effective July 21, 2019

Recommendation

Staff recommends that the City Council approve the terms of a collective bargaining agreement between the City of Menlo Park and the Menlo Park Police Sergeants Association (PSA), and authorize the city manager to execute a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with a term of July 17, 2019, through June 30, 2022; and amend the citywide salary schedule effective July 21.

Policy Issues

This report is prepared in accordance with City Council policy and procedure CC-11-001, public input and outreach regarding labor negotiations. Staff's recommendation aligns with the City's goals of balancing continued fiscal prudence in planning for potential impacts of employee retirement benefits, while also continuing to align the City as a competitive employer.

Background

On February 26, in accordance with City Council's public input and outreach regarding labor negotiations policy, a staff report was placed on the City Council agenda providing an opportunity for public comment before the commencement of labor negotiations with the Menlo Park PSA for a successor MOU expiring June 30. The staff report provided background information related to labor negotiations, a summary of bargaining unit information, cost information for salaries and benefits, and key issues facing the City on labor relation matters such as employee pension cost increases and medical premiums. At that meeting, there was one public comment.

The PSA represents nine employees in the sworn classifications of police sergeant. The City and PSA negotiating teams commenced negotiations in March 2019, and after six meetings, reached a tentative agreement (TA) June 28 within the authority and direction provided by City Council in closed session.

Upon reaching agreement, PSA notified the City that the TA was ratified by the membership June 28. In compliance with the intent and spirit of the City Council's public input and outreach regarding labor negotiations policy, the City is publicly making available the staff report, at least fifteen calendar days prior to the City Council consideration of the tentative agreement. This staff report includes full details and costing associated with the recommended action.

Analysis

Attachment A is a copy of the current MOU with changes reflecting the terms of the TA reached by the City and PSA negotiating teams. The table below provides a summary of the key provisions and/or changes.

	Table 1: Key Provisions and/or changes	
Item	Description	Fully burdened cost/(savings)
Term MOU Article 1 Page 1	Three years beginning with City Council ratification and ending June 30, 2022. Given that negotiation of a successor agreement is not required for three fiscal years, the City is estimated to save approximately \$30,000 per year which reflects legal costs and internal staff time required to support negotiations.	(\$90,000)
Pay rates MOU Article 2 Page 2	 Increase differential with the Police Officers Association (POA) base pay from 12.15% to 13.5% effective first full pay period after City Council adoption. Increase base pay differential with the POA from 13.5% to 14.5% effective first full pay period in July 2020. Increase base pay differential with the POA from 14.5% to 15.0% effective first full pay period in July 2021. There is no retroactivity of these adjustments. 	\$204,500
On-call Pay MOU Article 2 Page 5	Changes the compensation from the rate of fifty dollars (\$50.00) per twenty-four (24) hour period to one hour of base pay per day for detectives on-call	\$26,300
Benefit programs MOU Article 6 Page 11	Increases the City's contribution to the cafeteria plan by 2% in 2020 and 3% in 2021	\$9,000
Educational leave and tuition reimbursement MOU Article 6 Page 11	The City shall contribute Eight Thousand Dollars (\$8,000) annually on July 1 of each year to the PSA educational leave and tuition reimbursement fund.	\$24,000

The economic package outlined above is responsive to the City's bargaining principles, as outlined in the February 26 report to the City Council announcing the City's intent to negotiate a successor agreement with the PSA. Specifically:

Service to the community

Service to the community requires a skilled workforce that is committed to providing the level of customer service and responsiveness expected by the City Council, residents, businesses, and other community sectors in Menlo Park. The PSA are the front line supervisors for police officers, police corporals and certain non-sworn police personnel. Four of the nine sergeants are assigned to the patrol division, leading day-to-day 24/7 operations. Patrol sergeants ensure appropriate staffing levels, customer relations, and law enforcement activities for crime prevention, problem-solving and crime suppression. Five sergeants are assigned to units requiring specialized training and skills. The TA provides three years of stability for

affected PSA represented classifications in the area of compensation.

Fiscal sustainability

One measure of fiscal sustainability is the relationship between the TA's economic package and inflation as measured by the Consumers Price Index, All Urban Consumers (CPI-U), for the San Francisco – Oakland – Hayward region. For budgeting purposes, the City measures CPI-U based on the annual change measured in February of each year. From February 2018 to February 2019, the CPI-U recorded an increase of 3.5 percent. The most recent measures of the year-over-year change in CPI-U was measured from April 2018 to April 2019, changing 4.0 percent. Existing practice continued in the proposed successor MOU includes general salary increases at the same pace of the POA, to keep the salary differential between the PSA and POA the same. This resulted in a 2.91 percent July 7, 2019 and will include a 3.5 percent increase in July 2020. The increase in the differential of 2.85 percent over the three year term of the proposed successor MOU is to align the salary differential of a first line supervisor and direct report to industry standards and best practices.

Another measure of fiscal sustainability is the cumulative fiscal impact of the TA and the relationship of that impact to the fiscal year 2019-20 budget and most recent 10-year forecast. The amount available for salary increases takes into consideration increasing costs for employee pension and inflationary assumptions for non-salary items. In addition to falling within the assumptions of the City's long-term fiscal forecast, the salary increases also cumulatively fall within assumptions made by CalPERS in its payroll growth assumptions that are used in actuarial analysis of pension liabilities.

Recruitment and retention

The terms of the successor agreement are an important component of recruiting and retaining quality employees. All nine of the current police sergeants were promoted from within the City of Menlo Park. They represent 130 years of service to the City of Menlo Park as law enforcement officers, 58 of those years as police sergeants. Competition for top talent is significant. Providing a compensation package that maintains the City's market position and provides incentive for promoting within the City supports retention of our highly qualified and experienced staff.

Impact on City Resources

The TA results in a fiscal impact of approximately \$173,800 through June 30, 2022, net of savings realized as a result of the multiyear agreement. The TA fiscal impact is within the most recent 10-year fiscal forecast.

Environmental Review

This action is not a project within the meaning of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines §§ 15378 and 15061(b)(3) as it will not result in any direct or indirect physical change in the environment.

Public Notice

Public notification was achieved by posting the agenda, with the agenda items being listed, at least 72 hours prior to the meeting.

Attachments

- A. Track changes copy of Memorandum of Understanding between the Menlo Park Police Sergeants Association and the City of Menlo Park expiring June 30, 2022
- B. Track changes copy of the citywide salary schedule
- C. Resolution No. 6514 to amend the citywide salary schedule

Report prepared by:

Theresa DellaSanta, Human Resources Manager

Report reviewed by:

Lenka Diaz, Administrative Services Director

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN

THE MENLO PARK POLICE SERGEANTS ASSOCIATION

AND

THE CITY OF MENLO PARK



July 17, 2019 to June 30, 2022

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PREAMBLE		Page 1
ARTICLE 1:	TERM	
ARTICLE 1:	PAY RATES AND PRACTICES	
ARTICLE 2.	2.1 Salary Schedule	
	2.2 POST Incentive	
	2.3 Overtime	
	2.4 Call Back Pay	
	2.5 Uniform Allowance	
	2.6 General Leave Cashout	
	2.7 Compensatory Time	
	2.8 Continuing Benefits	
	2.9 Bilingual Differential	
	2.10 On-Call Pay	
	2.11 Vehicle Allowance	
	2.12 Night Shift Differential	4
	2.13 Longevity Pay	4
	2.14 Working Out of Classification	5
ARTICLE 3:	LEAVE PROVISIONS	5
	3.1 Leave of Absence Without Pay	5
	3.2 Long Term Disability	5
	3.3 Jury Duty and Subpoenas - Not Related to Official Duties	6
	3.4 Military Leave	6
	3.5 Bereavement Leave	6
	3.6 Workers' Compensation	7
	3.7 Training Offset Hours	7
ARTICLE 4:	GENERAL LEAVE PROGRAM	7
	4.1 General Leave Program	7
	4.2 Transfer of Leave for Catastrophic Illness	
	4.3 Transition to General Leave	9
ARTICLE 5:	NO SMOKING AREAS	9
ARTICLE 6:	BENEFIT PROGRAMS	9
	6.1 Cafeteria Plan	

	6.2 Dental Insurance 11
	6.3 Vision
	6.4 Retiree Medical Trust
	6.5 Educational Leave and Tuition Reimbursement
ARTICLE 7:	HOLIDAYS11
ARTICLE 8:	RETIREMENT PROGRAMS
	8.1 Retirement Plan
	8.2 Optional Provisions
	8.3 City's Contribution to Retirement
	8.4 Employee's Contribution to Retirement System14
	8.5 Honorary Retirement
ARTICLE 9:	WORKING CONDITIONS
	9.1 Work Schedules
	9.2 Adjustment to Schedule
	9.3 Layoffs
	9.4 Training
	9.5 Donning and Doffing of Uniforms
ARTICLE 10:	GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE
	10.1 Definitions
	10.2 General Provisions
	10.3 Grievance Procedure
	10.4 Disciplinary Appeals21
ARTICLE 11:	RECOGNITION
ARTICLE 12:	FULL UNDERSTANDING MODIFICATION AND WAIVER23
ARTICLE 13:	SEPARABILITY23
ARTICLE 14:	LABOR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE23
ARTICLE 15:	EFFECT OF AGREEMENT24
APPENDIX A:	PAY RANGES
APPENDIX B:	ADMINISTRATION OF RETIREMENT HEALTH CREDITS FOR RETIRE

PREAMBLE

This Memorandum of Understanding is reached between the City of Menlo Park ("City") and the Menlo Park Police Sergeants' Association ("PSA"), representing the classification of Sergeant within the City's Police Department. The parties have reached this Memorandum of Understanding following meeting and conferring in good faith as required under Government Code Sections, 3500, et seq. Existing practices and/or benefits which are not referenced in this Memorandum and which are subject to the meet and confer process shall continue without change unless modified subject to the meet and confer process.

The parties agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1: TERM

The term of this Memorandum shall be July 17, 2019 to June 30, 2022.

ARTICLE 2: PAY RATES AND PRACTICES

2.1 Salary Schedule

The salary schedule for employees in the representation unit shall be as set forth in Appendix "A" to this Agreement.

Effective the first full pay period following approval of this agreement by City Council, the City shall increase the differential between POA and PSA classifications' base pay ("base pay" does not include premiums or other assignment-based pays, longevity pay, deferred compensation, uniform allowance, and POST incentive), from 12.15% to 13.5%.

Effective the first full pay period in July 2020, the City shall increase the differential between POA and PSA classificiations' base pay from 13.5% to 14.5%.

Effective the first full pay period in July 2021, the City shall increase the differential between POA and PSA classifications' base pay from 14.5% to 15.0%.

2.2 POST Incentive

Unit members who possess a Peace Officer Standards and Training (POST) intermediate certificate shall receive a five percent (5%) premium in accordance with the current practice.

Unit members who possess a Peace Officer Standards and Training (POST) advanced certificate shall receive a ten percent (10%) premium in accordance with the current practice.

2.3 Overtime

Officers on a forty (40) hour assignment shall be paid overtime at the rate of time and one-half (1 -1/2) their regular rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of forty (40) hours in a single workweek. Officers who work a patrol schedule under a 7(k) work period as allowed under the Fair Labor Standards Act shall receive overtime for all hours worked in excess of one hundred and sixty-eight (168) hours in a twenty-eight (28) day work period. Hours worked shall include all hours for which the officer is in a paid status including paid leave time. Overtime is paid on a biweekly basis.

2.4 Call Back Pay

Employees who are called back after leaving work at the end of a normal shift shall be entitled to a minimum of four (4) hours pay at the rate of time and one-half (1-1/2); exception: court pay is three (3) hours minimum.

2.5 Uniform Allowance

All unit members shall receive the sum of One Thousand Forty Dollars (\$1,040.00) per year to be used for the purchase and maintenance of uniforms. Payment shall be made in the amount of Forty Dollars (\$40.00) per biweekly pay period. If an eligible employee is on unpaid leave for a period of one (1) full pay period or more, the employee will not receive uniform allowance pay for that period. The City will pay the initial cost of a class A uniform for all unit members.

2.6 General Leave Cashout

An employee may cash out General Leave in accordance with the General Leave Cashout Policy.

2.7 Compensatory Time

Compensatory time accrued in a different classification may not be carried over upon promotion. All compensatory time accrued prior to promotion to Sergeant will be cashed out at the time of promotion at the employee's hourly rate immediately preceding promotion.

An employee may accumulate a maximum of three hundred (300) hours of compensatory time. Once an employee has reached the limits of compensatory time in this section he/she shall receive cash at the overtime rate for all overtime worked.

Any employee who reaches the limit of three hundred (300) hours of compensatory time on the books will not be allowed to accrue further compensatory time until the balance falls below the three hundred (300) hours maximum.

With the last full payroll period each December, all unused compensatory time shall be cashed out at the employee's rate of pay.

Upon termination, all unused compensatory time shall be paid out at the employee's final rate of pay.

2.8 Continuing Benefits

The City will pay the increased cost of existing benefits, except as specifically provided herein.

2.9 <u>Bilingual Differential</u>

- 2.9.1 Any position assigned to job duties requiring bilingual skills are eligible to receive Seventy-Five (\$75.00) each pay period for the use of bilingual skills in job duties arising during the normal course of work.
- 2.9.2 The Human Resources Department, on the basis of a proficiency test developed and administered by the City, shall determine eligibility for the bilingual pay differential.
- 2.9.3 Bilingual skills shall not be a condition of employment except for employees who are hired specifically with that requirement. If an employee is hired under this provision, that requirement shall be included in the initial employment letter.
- 2.9.4 The City retains the right to discontinue the bilingual differential, provided the City gives the exclusive representative ten (10) days written notice prior to such revocation, in order to allow the opportunity for the parties to meet and confer.
- 2.9.5 No employee shall be required to use bilingual skills that is not compensated under this section.

Any employee who is reassigned to another position within this bargaining unit, and was receiving the bilingual differential at the time of appointment, shall have their need for bilingual skills reviewed by the Chief of Police. If the Chief of Police determines that bilingual skills in the position are required, the differential shall continue, otherwise, the bilingual differential will be discontinued.

2.10 On-Call Pay

Sergeants assigned to the detective unit who are placed in an on-call status shall be compensated one (1) hour of pay at the member's regular rate of pay for each day. Sergeants assigned to the detective unit who are on-call and fail to respond when called may be subject to disciplinary action.

2.11 Vehicle Allowance

Sergeants assigned to the detective unit, who are assigned to use their personally owned vehicle for City use, shall receive a monthly automobile allowance of five hundred dollars (\$500.00). The automobile allowance shall cover all costs of operating the vehicle for City use, including but not limited to, maintenance, insurance and fuel.

2.12 Night Shift Differential

For employees assigned to patrol, the City shall pay a shift differential of two percent (2.00%) for regular assignment to night shift. The shift differential shall not be paid on any regularly assigned schedule worked which includes day or swing shift.

Shift differential shall only be paid to employees assigned to a night shift, and shall not apply to employees filling open shifts or otherwise assigned to nights on a temporary basis. For the puposes of this section, a temporary assignment shall be defined as one consecutive pay period or less.

2.13 <u>Longevity Pay</u>

Employees who have achieved levels of continuous service in a full time sworn police position with the City of Menlo Park, and who have received annual performance reviews with overall ratings of "meets standards" or above shall be eligible to receive the following:

- 2.13.1 The first pay period after completing seven (7) years of service: two percent (2.00%) calculated upon base pay.
- 2.13.2 The first pay period after completing eleven (11) years of service: four percent (4.00%) calculated upon base pay.
- 2.13.3 The first pay period after completing fifteen (15) years of service: six percent (6.00%) calculated upon base pay.
- 2.13.4 The first pay period after completing twenty (20) years of service: eight percent (8.00%) calculated upon base pay.

The maximum longevity pay that may be received by an employee is eight percent (8.00%).

2.14 Working Out of Classification

Upon specific written assignment by the Police Chief or his/her designated representative, an employee may be required to perform the duties of a position in a higher classification. Such assignments shall be made to existing authorized positions that are not actively occupied due to the temporary absence of the regularly appointed employee. Any Sergeant working out of classification shall be paid five percent (5%) above their current rate of pay. Such pay shall be paid for the hours the duties are actually assigned and performed in the higher classification.

ARTICLE 3: LEAVE PROVISIONS

3.1 <u>Leave of Absence Without Pay</u>

- 3.1.1 Leaves of absence without pay may be granted in cases of personal emergency or when such absences would not be contrary to the best interests of the City. Leaves denied in the best interests of the City shall be taken as soon as possible after the interests of the City are met. The member shall be notified of the effective date of the rescheduled leave.
- 3.1.2 Requests for leave of absence without pay must be submitted to the Police Chief using the Human Resources Division's form. The Chief may recommend approval of a leave of absence without pay for a period not less than four weeks nor more than one (1) year, during which time no benefits and no seniority will accrue. The Chief's recommendation shall be forwarded to the Human Resources Division for approval.
- 3.1.3 Upon expiration of a regularly approved leave, or within five (5) working days after notice to return to duty, the employee shall be reinstated in the same or an equivalent position to that held at the time the leave was granted. Failure on the part of an employee to report promptly at the expiration of the leave, or within five (5) working days after notice to report for duty shall be treated as an automatic resignation from City service unless the Chief determines that extenuating circumstances exist to excuse that absence. However, any unapproved absence may be cause for disciplinary action.
- 3.1.5 Merit pay raises and performance review dates shall be extended by the amount of the leave without pay taken.

3.2 Long Term Disability

3.2.1 Should any non-work related illness or injury extend beyond () forty-five (45) consecutive days, the City will ensure continued payment to the worker up to a maximum of 66.67 percent of salary, as provided in the long term disability policy. The amounts paid shall be less any payments received from either workers' compensation or retirement. During the first year of disability and so long as no retirement determination has been made by the City, the worker will be entitled to continued City paid health insurance, AD&D, and dental and life insurance benefits. At the end of 365 calendar days from the date of illness or injury or unless previously retired, should the worker not be able to return to work, the worker will be permitted to continue to participate in City paid health insurance, AD&D, and dental and life insurance benefits. However, the employee will be required to pay 100% of any premiums.

3.3 Jury Duty and Subpoenas - Not Related to Official Duties

- 3.3.1 An employee required to report for jury duty or to answer a subpoena as a witness, provided the witness has no financial interest in the outcome of the case, shall be granted leave with pay from his/her assigned duties until released by the court, provided the employee remits to the City all fees received from such duties other than mileage or subsistence allowances within thirty (30) days from the termination of jury service.
- 3.3.2 When an employee returns to complete a regular shift following time served on jury duty or as a witness, such time falling within work shift shall be considered as time worked for purposes of shift completion and overtime computation. In determining whether or not an employee shall return to his/her regular shift following performance of the duties above, reasonable consideration shall be given to such factors as travel time and a period of rest.

3.4 Military Leave

3.4.1 Military leave of absence shall be granted and compensated in accordance with Military and Veterans Code Sections 389 and 395 et seq. Employees entitled to military leave shall give the appointing power an opportunity, within the limits of military regulations, to determine when such leave shall be taken.

3.5 Bereavement Leave

3.5.1 An employee shall be allowed leave with pay for not more than three (3) working days when absent because a death has occurred in the immediate family. For purpose of bereavement leave, members of the immediate family shall be limited to mother, father, child, sibling, mother-in-law, father-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, grandchild, grandmother, grandfather, spouse, domestic partner, or dependent of the employee. Employees may use General Leave for bereavement

purposes for relations not included above provided such leave is approved in advance by the Chief of Police.

3.6 Workers' Compensation

3.6.1 Sworn personnel shall be granted leave with pay for a disability caused by illness or injury arising out of and in the course of his/her employment, in accordance with Section 4850 of the Labor Code of the State of California.

3.7 Training Offset Hours

3.7.1 Sergeants who work a patrol shift as part of a 4/12 work schedule shall be provided with a bank of twenty-four (24) hours for training offset, credited pay period one (1) of each payroll calendar year. The hours shall be used to fill in for the remainder of a shift where voluntary training was provided (e.g., if an employee attends an eight (8) hour day of training, the employee may use four (4) hours of training offset time to complete their twelve (12) hour shift. Eight (8) hours training plus four (4) hours training offset = twelve (12) hour shift).

These hours may only be used in conjunction with supplementing time off for voluntary training.

3.7.2 Training Offset Hours do not accrue. Any Training Offset Hours not used by the date of separation for employees separating during the year, or by the end of the last pay period in the payroll calendar year for other employees, shall not be paid out nor carried over to subsequent years. Training offset hours may not be cashed out or used for any purpose other than stated above.

ARTICLE 4: GENERAL LEAVE PROGRAM

4.1 General Leave Program

Accrual of General Leave is as follows:

1 - 5 years	216 hours
6 - 10 years	230 hours
11 - 15 years	256 hours
16 - 20 years	280 hours
20 + years	296 hours

Actual accrual is biweekly prorated from the above table. The maximum number of hours which may be accrued is One Thousand Four Hundred (1,400) hours of general leave.

4.1.1 Upon separation from City service accrued general leave up to the maximum may be converted to cash. The amount shall be calculated on the base hourly rate of the employee multiplied by the number of hours converted. Upon retirement from City employment an employee hired on or before June 30, 2004 may convert any accrued general leave not converted to cash to retirement health insurance credits at the rate of one (1) unit for every eight (8) hours of accumulated general leave with any remainder being rounded to the next higher credit.

Qualified employees hired on or before June 30, 2004 who have at least twenty (20) years of service with the City may elect to have their accrued general leave balance converted to retirement health credits at the rate of one (1) unit for every six (6) hours of accumulated sick leave with any remainder being rounded to the next higher credit. If this election is made, the retirement health credit calculated shall not exceed the highest HMO health plan premium as may be in effect at such time such credit is applied. Election shall be made at the time of retirement.

Reimbursement of premiums to retirees shall be in the same manner as currently done since 1990. The method of reimbursement is detailed in Appendix B.

- 4.1.2 Double Coverage. Workers who qualify for the retirement health credit conversion may elect double coverage at the rate of two (2) units for every month of paid health insurance.
- 4.1.3 Family Coverage. Workers who qualify for the retirement health credit conversion may elect family coverage at the rate of three (3) units for every month of paid health insurance.

4.2 Transfer of Leave for Catastrophic Illness

Transfer of leave for catastrophic illness is designed to assist employees who have exhausted leave due to a catastrophic illness, injury or condition of the worker. This policy allows other workers to make voluntary grants of time to that worker so that he/she can remain in a paid status for a longer period of time, thus partially ameliorating the financial impact of the illness, injury or condition.

A catastrophic illness is defined as an illness which has been diagnosed by a competent physician, requiring an extended period of treatment or recuperation, and which has a significant risk to life or life expectancy. Confirmation of the condition and prognosis by a health care provider chosen by the City may be required.

The Human Resources Department will discuss with the PSA or their designated representative an appropriate method of soliciting contributions from coworkers. The contributions shall be submitted to the Human Resources Department and Human the

Resources Department will process the contribution list in the order established. Any officer shall be allowed to contribute a maximum of eighty (80) hours of leave from their accrued management leave balance to another full-time or permanent part-time worker in the City who is suffering from a catastrophic illness and has exhausted his or her own sick leave, provided, however, they have maintained a positive management leave balance of forty (40) hours or more following the donation. Once the contribution is made it cannot be rescinded.

Upon return to work, an employee may bank any remaining hours that have been contributed up to a maximum of forty (40) hours. If the contribution list has not been exhausted, the contributing workers will be notified that their contribution was not required and the balance restored.

4.3 Transition to General Leave

Employees who promote into the PSA bargaining unit from a unit which accrues both sick leave and vacation will have their vacation balances converted to General Leave. Any remaining sick leave balance will be frozen and the employee may use sick leave for their own illness and injury or to care for an immediate family member who is ill or injured, as provided under state law and the Citv's Personnel Rules.

The City shall have the right and obligation to monitor the operation of sick leave and take appropriate action to insure that benefits are paid only for actual illness and injury.

ARTICLE 5: NO SMOKING AREAS

City owned vehicles used by unit members shall be considered offices and designated as no smoking areas.

ARTICLE 6: BENEFIT PROGRAMS

6.1 Cafeteria Plan

- 6.1.1 Each active employee and retiree shall receive a City contribution equal to the minimum employer contribution for agencies participating in the Public Employees Medical and Hospital Care Act (PEMHCA).
- 6.1.2 The City shall continue to make a non-elective employer contribution to the flexible benefits plan on behalf of each active employee in an amount which together with the minimum PEMHCA contribution in 6.1.1 equals the following:

\$2,128 per month Employee plus 2/more dependents \$1,647 per month Employee plus 1 dependent \$845 per month Employee only

The active employee will be responsible for any remaining premium in excess of the allocated amount.

[EXAMPLE: If the PEMHCA minimum contribution is \$122, then the City shall make a flexible benefits plan contribution of \$2006 per month for family coverage.]

Employees who waive coverage will be entitled to \$391 per month.

6.1.3 Effective January 1, 2020, the City shall make a non-elective employer contribution to the flexible benefits plan on behalf of each active employee in an amount which, together with the minimum PEMHCA contribution in 6.1.1 equals the following:

\$2,171 per month Employee plus 2/more dependents

\$1,680 per month Employee plus 1 dependent

\$862 per month Employee only

The active employee will be responsible for any remaining premium in excess of the allocated amount.

[EXAMPLE: If the PEMHCA minimum contribution is \$122, then the City shall make a flexible benefits plan contribution of \$2,049 per month for family coverage.]

Employees who waive coverage will be entitled to \$391 per month.

6.1.4 Effective January 1, 2021, the City shall make a non-elective employer contribution to the flexible benefits plan on behalf of each active employee in an amount which, together with the minimum PEMHCA contribution in 6.1.1 equals the following:

\$2,236 per month Employee plus 2/more dependents

\$1,730 per month Employee plus 1 dependent

\$888 per month Employee only

The active employee will be responsible for any remaining premium in excess of the allocated amount.

[EXAMPLE: If the PEMHCA minimum contribution is \$122, then the City shall make a flexible benefits plan contribution of \$2,114 per month for family coverage.]

Employees who waive coverage will be entitled to \$391 per month.

- 6.1.5 Each active employee may use his/her allocated amount for any benefits permitted by law and provided for in the FSA plan document. The FSA plan document will be amended to eliminate cash distributions.
- 6.1.6 Each employee must enroll in an available PEMHCA health insurance plan or demonstrate that he/she has health insurance coverage equivalent to the PEMHCA plan in order to receive the amount identified as "no coverage."
- 6.1.7 Effective January 1, 2018, Cash-in-Lieu of Medical Coverage amounts will be included in the calculation of regular rate for overtime purposes. In the event that a court issues a final decision holding that Cash-in-Lieu of Medical Coverage payments do not need to be included in the regular rate, the City will cease including Cash-in-Lieu in the regular rate.

6.2 Dental Insurance

The City shall provide dental insurance to employees and eligible dependents the month following an employee's date of hire or promotion in accordance with the City's Evidence of Coverage document.

6.3 Vision

The City shall pay the full cost for fully insured Vision Insurance provided by VSP, or an equivalent insurance provider, providing vision benefits as described in the summary plan description.

6.4 Retiree Medical Trust

The PSA shall endeavor to join the PORAC Retiree Medical Trust (RMT), or some other RMT, during the term of this MOU. The sole purpose of the RMT will be to provide funding for medical expenses and health insurance costs for eligible retirees, or qualified family members of eligible retirees as established by the RMT. Participation in the RMT shall be the complete and sole responsibility of PSA. The City shall not have any involvement in the RMT's design, its administration or in the benefits paid, nor shall the City have any responsibility for any actions of the RMT or its trustees or of PSA with respect to the RMT. PSA will indemnify, defend and hold harmless the City, its agencies, officers, and employees, against any and all claims or legal proceedings regarding the operation of the RMT.

6.5 Educational Leave and Tuition Reimbursement

The City shall contribute Eight Thousand Dollars (\$8,000) annually on July 1st of each year to the PSA educational leave and tuition reimbursement fund. For FY 2019-20, the City shall make the \$8,000 contribution July 17, 2019. The City will reimburse expenses for tuition, books, lab fees and equipment, and curriculum fees incurred by an employee, for classes completed in accredited institutions of learning or approved specialized training groups leading to an academic degree or improved job related skills. Parking fees or health fees related to enrollment will not be included. Programs must be approved in advance. Reimbursement will be provided upon successful completion of approved courses. Employees must attach a final grade of "C" or better for both undergraduate and graduate work. The employees may not elect to take a "pass-fail" grade if the letter system of grading is offered. Courses providing a "pass/fail" must achieve a "pass" to qualify for reimbursement. Funds expended on tuition reimbursement will be subject to appropriate IRS regulations. Employees wishing to engage in educational programs involving work time may be granted rescheduled time if departmental operations permit.

All employees assigned by the City to attend meetings, workshops or conventions shall have thir dues and reasonable expenses paid by the City and shall be allowed to attend such workshops, meetings and conventions on paid City time. Such required educational functions shall be reimbursed from departmental training funds and shall not be counted against the employee's allowance or the annual tuition reimbursement.

Employee may under tuition reimbursement fund request reimbursement for trade publications, technical books, and printed materials related to the employee's employment.

Claims for qualified expenditures shall first be reimbursed to an individual maximum of fourteen hundred dollars (\$1,400) per fiscal year. After payment of all such claims, on June 30, should there be unused funds remaining in this fund, qualified expenses in excess of fourteen hundred dollars (\$1,400) already paid, and received no later than July 15 of that year, shall be reimbursed on a pro-rata basis not to exceed a total annual individual reimbursement of Five Thousand Dollars (\$5,000).

ARTICLE 7: HOLIDAYS

7.1 Except as otherwise provided, employees within the representation unit shall have the following fixed holidays with pay:

New Year's Day January 1

Martin Luther King Day Third Monday in January

Lincoln's Birthday February 12

Washington's Birthday Third Monday in February Memorial Day Last Monday in May

Independence Day July 4

Labor Day First Monday in September

Admission Day September 9 Veterans Day November 11

Thanksgiving Day Fourth Thursday in November Day after Thanksgiving Fourth Friday in November

Christmas Day December 25

One full day either December 24 or December 31

- 7.1.1 Designation of which one full day on either December 24 or December 31 is a fixed holiday shall be made by the Police Chief, considering the needs of the service and the officer's desires.
- 7.1.2 Holidays on an Employee's Regular Day Off
 - a. Patrol. Fixed Holiday on a Regular Day Off. If a fixed holiday falls on an employee's regularly scheduled day off for an employee who is filling a Patrol assignment, and the employee is not required to work that day, the employee shall receive eight (8) hours of holiday pay at their straight time hourly rate.

- b. Non-patrol. When a holiday falls on the regular day off for an employee who is filling a non-Patrol assignment, and the employee is not required to work that day, that employee will normally flex his or her regular day off to account for the holiday (i.e., will use the 8 hours of holiday time to take time off on another day during the same workweek). However, with the approval of their supervisor, and subject to the operational needs of the Department, employees on a non-Patrol assignment may work their full workweek and receive an additional eight (8) hours of pay for the holiday (i.e., 40 hours for time worked plus 8 hours for the holiday).
- 7.1.3 An employee who is scheduled to work on a fixed holiday, and who does not work, including absences due to illness or injury for which they would otherwise be eligible for sick leave, shall be entitled to eight (8) hours of holiday pay and shall use general leave, or other appropriate paid/unpaid leave to make up any difference between the holiday and his or her regularly scheduled shift. An employee will not be paid for more than his or her regular day's pay for any holiday when he or she does not work.
- 7.1.4 Work on a Fixed Holiday (Non-Patrol)
 - a. Holidays on Employee's Regular Workday. Any employee required to work a Non-Patrol assignment on a fixed holiday which falls on his or her regular workday shall be paid time and one-half for such work in addition to eight (8) hours of holiday pay. [For Example, if an employee has a regular work schedule of Monday through Thursday and works a full Non-Patrol shift on a holiday which falls on a Monday (his or her regular workday), he or she would be paid a total of 23 hours (8 hours holiday pay plus 10 hours at time and one half).]
 - b. Holidays on an Employees' Regular Day Off. Any employee required to work a Non-Patrol assignment on a fixed holiday which falls on his or her regular day off shall be paid double time for such work in addition to eight (8) hours of holiday pay. [For Example, if an employee has a regular work schedule of Tuesday through Friday and works a Non-Patrol shift on a holiday which falls on a Monday (his or her regular workday), he or she would be paid a total of 28 hours (8 hours holiday pay plus 10 hours at double time).]

7.1.5 Work on a Fixed Holiday (Patrol)

a. Holidays on Employee's Regular Workday. Any Employee required to work Patrol on a fixed holiday which falls on his or her regular workday shall be paid time and one-half for such work in addition to his or her regular pay. Employees who work their regular shift for a fixed holiday shall not receive additional holiday pay. [For Example, if an employee has a regular work schedule of Monday through Wednesday and works a full Patrol shift on a holiday which falls on a Monday (his or her regular workday), he or she would be paid a total of 30 hours (12 hours plus 12 hours at time and one half).]

b. Holidays on an Employee's Regular Day Off. Any employee required to work Patrol on a fixed holiday on his or her regular day off shall be paid double time for such work in addition to eight (8) hours of holiday pay pursuant to section 7.1.2. [For Example, if an employee has a regular work schedule of Wednesday through Saturday and works a full Patrol shift on a holiday which falls on a Monday (his or her regular day off), he or she would be paid a total of 32 hours (8 hours holiday pay plus 12 hours at double time.)

7.1.6 Pay for holidays may not be taken as compensatory time off.

ARTICLE 8: RETIREMENT PROGRAMS

8.1 Retirement Plan

Retirement benefits for employees hired prior to November 20, 2011 shall be those established by the Public Employees' Retirement System (PERS) for Local Safety Members 3% at age 50 Formula, highest single year.

For employees hired on or after November 20, 2011, who are not new members as defined by PERS, retirement benefits shall be those established by the Public Employees' Retirement System (PERS) for Local Safety Members 3% at age 55 formula, highest three years.

For new employees, as defined by the Public Employees' Retirement System (PERS), hired on or after January 1, 2013, retirement benefits shall be those established by the Public Employees' Retirement System (PERS) for Local Safety Members 2.7% at age 57 formula, highest three years.

8.2 Optional Provisions

- 8.2.1 1959 Survivor Allowance as set forth in Section 6 of Chapter 9 of the Public Employees' Retirement Law, commencing with Section 21570 of the Government Code, shall be provided.
- 8.2.2 Third Level of 1959 Survivor Benefits, as provided under Government Code Section 21573, shall be included.

8.3 <u>City's Contribution to Retirement</u>

- 8.3.1 The City shall pay the rate prescribed by the Public Employees' Retirement System for employer contributions to the Public Employees' Retirement System in accordance with the rules and regulations governing such employer contributions.
- 8.3.2 Classic employees shall contribute three percent (3.00%) toward the employer's contribution to the Public Employees' Retirement System(Employee Paid City Contribution).
- 8.3.3 To the extent permitted by law, the Employee Paid City Contribution shall be taken as a pre-tax deduction from the employees' paycheck each payroll period. The City and PSA agree that the three percent (3%) will continue past the expiration of the MOU. If for any reason the City is precluded from making the Employee Paid City Contribution deduction or the deduction cannot be made on a pre-tax basis, the parties agree to meet and confer regarding ways to cure the defect.
- 8.3.4 The parties understand that the Employee Paid City Contribution is a payment towards the Normal Cost of Retirement Benefits pursuant to Government Code Section 20516.5.

8.4 Employee's Contribution to Retirement System

- 8.4.1 The full employees's contribution shall be deducted from the unit member's pay by the City and forwarded to the Public Employees' Retirement System in accordance with the rules and regulations governing such contributions.
- 8.4.2 New employees, as defined by the Public Employees' Retirement System (PERS), hired on or after January 1, 2013, shall make a member contribution of 50% of the Normal Cost of the benefit as a pre-tax deduction from the employees' paycheck each payroll period.

The City has implemented Employer Pick-up, Internal Revenue Code 414 (h) (2) on the employee's contribution to the Public Employees' Retirement System.

- 8.4.3. As soon as practicable, the City will modify its contract with CalPERS to provide for a 3.0% additional Member Contribution over and above Normal Contribution for classic members. This means that classic members will make an additional 3.0% contribution into their member account and will cease making the contribution in 8.3.2. The total member contribution for classic employees will be 12%.
- 8.4.4 Each employee designated by CalPERS as a "new member" (PEPRA member) in accordance with applicable laws shall contribute the greater of half of the normal cost or twelve percent (12%).
 - 8.4.4.1 In the event that half of the normal cost is less than twelve percent (12%), PEPRA members will contribute an amount equal to the difference between half of the normal cost and twelve percent (12%) toward employer's contribution to the Public Employees' Retirement System. For example, if half of the normal cost is 11.5%, PEPRA members will contribute an additional 0.5% for a total of 12%.
 - 8.4.4.2 Any additional employer contribution paid by PEPRA member shall be taken as a pre-tax deduction from the employees' paycheck each payroll period.

8.5 Honorary Retirement

- 8.5.1 Upon separation, an employee who leaves the service of the Menlo Park Police Department shall be considered retired provided the unit member has fifteen (15) years of service with the department and is in good standing at the time of departure.
- 8.5.2 An employee shall be given a retirement badge and identification card.
- 8.5.3 The same requirements for a concealed weapons permit shall apply as for any other applicant. A concealed weapons permit shall not be automatically approved.
- 8.5.4 Retirement under this section shall be honorary and shall not involve any payment or benefit to the unit member or liability on the part of the City.

ARTICLE 9: WORKING CONDITIONS

9.1 Work Schedules

The Chief of Police shall determine the appropriate regular or alternative work schedules of the Department and the various divisions, sections and details based upon the

feasibility or operational needs. The Chief of Police may modify schedules to drop an alternative work schedule and revert to a regular eight (8) hour schedule except that any resulting schedule different from a five (5) days on, two (2) days off will be subject to the meet and confer process.

Alternative work schedules may be administered under the 7(k) work period provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act.

9.1.1 <u>4/10 Work Schedule</u>

A 4/10 work schedule is defined as ten (10) hours per day worked, four (4) days per calendar week.

9.1.2 4/12 Work Schedule

A 4/12 work schedule is defined as a series of twelve (12) hours per day worked in four consecutive days followed by four consecutive days off. The maximum assignment may total 168 hours in a twenty-eight (28) day cycle. If utilized, the schedule is subject to the following:

- 9.1.2.1 The 4/12 schedule shall apply to police sergeants assigned to general patrol and shall not apply to special assignments without the approval of the Chief of Police.
- 9.1.3 In the event the City elects to change the scheduling of days off or starting times for the shifts, the City shall provide at least thirty (30) days' notice and an opportunity for the P.S.A. to meet and confer on such proposed changes.
- 9.1.4 The parties agree that provisions in the Personnel Rules and other City rules and regulations may be modified, expressly or implicitly, as they apply to those represented employees working the 4/10 or 4/12 schedule.
- 9.1.5 Nothing herein shall prevent the City from making temporary changes to address bona fide non-staffing emergencies that may arise during the term of this Agreement.

9.2 Adjustment to Schedule

Unit members regularly assigned to midnight shift may request an adjustment to their schedule provided the employee is required to conduct authorized department business following the employee's shift; there is no cost to the City; and permission is obtained in advance from the employee's supervisor.

9.3 <u>Layoffs</u>

Layoffs shall be made in reverse order of seniority. The employee with the least length of service shall be laid off first. For purposes of this Section, length of service shall include all time served in the Sergeant classification or any other classification equivalent to or higher than the rank of Sergeant.

9.4 <u>Training</u>

Officers who are normally assigned to an alternative work schedule shall revert to a five day, eight hour shift for any training that requires attendance at class for a consecutive five day period.

9.5 Donning and Doffing of Uniforms

It is acknowledged and understood by the City and the PSA that the donning and doffing of uniforms and related safety equipment may be performed at home or other locations outside of the Police Department.

ARTICLE 10: GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

10.1 <u>Definitions</u>

- 10.1.1 A "grievance" is an alleged violation, misinterpretation or misapplication of the provisions of this Memorandum of Understanding or policy and/or procedure manuals affecting the working conditions of the unit members covered by this Agreement
- 10.1. 2 A "Disciplinary appeal" is an appeal from a disciplinary action of a Letter of Reprimand or higher, against a unit member covered by this Memorandum of Understanding.
- 10.1.3 A "grievant" is any unit member adversely affected by an alleged violation of the specific provision of this Memorandum, or the Union.
- 10.1.4 A "day" is any day in which the administrative offices of the City of Menlo Park are open for regularly scheduled business.

10.2 General Provisions

10.2.1 Until final disposition of a grievance, the grievant shall comply with the directions of the grievant's immediate supervisor.

- 10.2.2 All documents dealing with the processing of a grievance shall be filed separately from the personnel files of the participants.
- 10.2.4 Time limits for appeal provided at any level of this procedure shall begin the first day following receipt of the written decision by the grievant and/or the PSA.
 - Failure of the grievant to adhere to the time deadlines shall mean that the grievant is satisfied with the previous decision and waives the right to further appeal. The grievant and the City may extend any time deadline by mutual agreement.
- 10.2.5 Every effort will be made to schedule meetings for the processing of grievances at time which will not interfere with the regular work schedule of the participants. If any grievance meeting or hearing must be scheduled during duty hours, any employee required by either party to participate as a witness or grievant in such meeting or hearing shall be released from regular duties without loss of pay for a reasonable amount of time.
- 10.2.6 Any employee may at any time present grievances to the City and have such grievances adjusted without the intervention of PSA, as long as the adjustment is reached prior to arbitration and the adjustment is not inconsistent with the terms of the Memorandum: provided that the City shall not agree to the resolution of the grievance until the Association has received a copy of the grievance and the proposed resolution and has been given the opportunity to file a response. Upon request of the grievant, the grievant may be represented at any stage of the grievance procedure by a representative of PSA.
- 10.2.7 As an alternative to the formal grievance procedure, the City and the PSA may mutually agree to meet and attempt to informally resolve issues involving contract interpretations and other matters affecting the relationship between the City and the PSA. A grievance must be presented within the timelines set forth in Article 10.3. However, once the parties mutually agree to informally resolve problems, the formal grievance timelines are tolled pending the informal resolution process. If, in an attempt to informally resolve issues, the parties discuss matters that are not otherwise subject to the grievance procedure, such matters shall not be eligible to be grieved under the grievance provisions of this MOU. Either party may terminate the informal process at any time and the parties will revert to the formal grievance procedure.

10.3 Grievance Procedure (for grievances as defined in 10.1.1)

- 10.3.1 Level I Immediate Supervisor
 - 10.3.1.1 Any employee who believes he/she has a grievance which is an alleged violation of the specific provisions of this Memorandum of Understanding shall present the grievance orally to the immediate

supervisor within ten (10) days after the grievant knew, or reasonably should have known, of the circumstances which form the basis for the grievance. Failure to do so will render the grievance null and void. The immediate supervisor shall hold discussions and attempt to resolve the matter within ten (10) days after the presentation of the grievance. It is the intent of this informal meeting that at least one personal conference be held between the aggrieved unit member and the immediate supervisor.

10.3.2 Level II - Chief of Police

- 10.3.2.1 If the grievance is not resolved at Level I and the grievant wishes to press the matter, the grievant shall present the grievance in writing on the appropriate form to the Chief of Police within ten (10) days after the oral decision of the immediate supervisor. The written information shall include: (a) A description of the specific grounds of the grievance, including names, dates, and places necessary for a complete understanding of the grievance; (b) A listing of the provisions of this agreement which are alleged to have been violated; (c) A listing of the reasons why the immediate supervisor's proposed resolution of the problem is unacceptable; and (d) A listing of specific actions requested of the City which will remedy the grievance.
- 10.3.2.2 The Chief of Police or designee shall communicate the decision to the grievant in writing within ten (10) days after receiving the grievance. If the Chief of Police or designee does not respond within the time limits, the grievant may appeal to the next level.
- 10.3.2.3 Within the above time limits either party may request a personal conference.

10.3.3 Level III - Appeal to City Manager

- 10.3.3.1 If the grievant is not satisfied with the decision at Level II, the grievant may within ten (10) days of the receipt of the decision at Level II appeal the decision on the appropriate form to the City Manager. This statement shall include a clear, concise statement of the reasons for the appeal. Evidence offered in support of a disciplinary grievance filed pursuant to Article 10.2.3 of this Agreement shall be submitted in the form of written declarations executed under penalty of perjury.
- 10.3.3.2 The City Manager or designee shall communicate the decision in writing to the grievant within ten (10) days. If the City Manager or designee does not respond within the time limits provided, the grievant may appeal to the next level.

10.3.4 Level IV - Binding Arbitration

- 10.3.4.1 If the grievant is not satisfied with the decision at Level III, the grievant may within ten (10) days of the receipt of the decision submit a request in writing to the PSA for arbitration of the dispute. Within twenty (20) days of the grievant's receipt of the decision at Level III, the PSA shall inform the City of its intent as to whether or not the grievance will be arbitrated. The PSA and the City shall attempt to agree upon an arbitrator. If no agreement can be reached, they shall request that the State Mediation and Conciliation Service supply a panel of five names of persons experienced in hearing grievances in cities and who are members of the National Academy of Arbitrators (NAA). Each party shall alternately strike a name until only one remains. The remaining panel member shall be the arbitrator. The order of the striking shall be determined by lot.
- 10.3.4.2 If either the City or the PSA so requests, a separate arbitrator shall be selected to hear the merits of any issues raised regarding the arbitrability of a grievance. No hearing on the merits of the grievance will be conducted until the issue of arbitrability has been decided. The process to be used in selecting an arbitrator shall be as set forth in 10.3.4.1.
- 10.3.4.3 The arbitrator shall conduct and complete the hearing on the grievance, within sixty (60) days of the date of PSA's request for arbitration. The parties may mutually agree to extend that timeline. The parties shall file their post-hearing briefs within thirty (30) days of the close of the hearing and the arbitrator shall render a decision on the issue or issues submitted within thirty (30) days of the submission of the briefs. If the parties cannot agree upon a submission agreement, the arbitrator shall determine the issues by referring to the written grievance and the answers thereto at each step.
- 10.3.4.4 The City and PSA agree that the jurisdiction and authority of the arbitrator so selected and the opinions the arbitrator expresses will be confined exclusively to the interpretation of the express provision or provisions of this Agreement at issue between the parties. The arbitrator shall have no authority to add to, subtract from, alter, amend, or modify any provisions of this Agreement or the written ordinances, resolutions, rules, regulations and procedures of the City, nor shall he/she impose any limitations or obligations not specifically provided for under the terms of this Agreement. The Arbitrator shall be without power of authority to make any decision that requires the City or management to do an act prohibited by law.

- 10.3.4.5 The award of the arbitrator shall be final and binding.
- 10.3.4.6 The fees and expenses of the arbitrator (including the cost of any list of arbitrators requested pursuant to Section 10.3.4.1) shall be shared equally by the City and PSA.
 - All other expenses shall be borne by the party incurring them, and neither party shall be responsible for the expense of witnesses called by the other. Either party may request a certified court reporter to record the entire arbitration hearing. By mutual agreement, the cost of the services of such court reporter shall be shared equally by the parties. However, each party shall be responsible for the cost of transcripts that they order.
- 10.3.4.7 By filing a grievance and processing it beyond Level III, the grievant expressly waives any right to statutory remedies or to the exercise of any legal process other than as provided by this grievance/arbitration procedure. The processing of a grievance beyond Level III shall constitute an express election on the part of the grievant that the grievance/arbitration procedure is the chosen forum for resolving the issues contained in the grievance, and that the grievant will not resort to any other forum or procedure for resolution or review of the issues. The parties do not intend by the provisions of this paragraph to preclude the enforcement of any arbitration award in any court of competent jurisdiction.

10.4 Disciplinary Appeals

- 10.4.1 This procedure shall be the sole and exclusive procedure for processing appeals to disciplinary actions and shall satisfy all administrative appeal rights afforded by the Public Safety Officers Procedural Bill of Rights Act, Government Code Sections 3300, et seq.
- 10.4.2 A "disciplinary appeal" is a formal written appeal of a Notice of Disciplinary Action (post-Skelly) of any punitive disciplinary action including dismissal, demotion, suspension, reduction in salary, letters of reprimand, or transfer for purposes of punishment. However, letters of reprimand are not subject to the arbitration provisions of this procedure. This procedure also shall not apply to the rejection or termination of at will employees, including those in probationary status. Any reduction in pay for change in assignment which occurs in the course of regular rotation and is not punitive shall not be subject to this procedure.
- 10.4.3 Persons on probationary status (entry-level or promotional) may not appeal under this agreement rejection on probation.

- 10.4.4 Letters of Reprimand may be appealed under this section only to the City Manager level (Section 10.4.6.)
- 10.4.5 Any appeal to any punitive disciplinary action (as defined in Section 10.1.2) shall be presented in writing to the City Manager within ten (10) days after receipt of the Notice of Disciplinary Action. Failure to do so will be deemed a waiver of any appeal. The City Manager or designee shall hold a meeting to hear the appeal within ten (10) days after the presentation of the appeal and shall issue a decision on the appeal within ten (10) days after the presentation of the appeal. For letters of reprimand, the City Manager's decision shall be final. However the employee may write a response and have that response included in his or her personnel file.
- 10.4.6 For appeals from dismissal, demotion, suspension, reduction in salary, or transfers for purposes of punishment, if the employee is not satisfied with the decision of the City Manager, the employee may, within ten (10) days of the receipt of the decision, submit a request in writing to the PSA for arbitration of the dispute. Within twenty (20) days of the City Manager's decision, the PSA shall inform the City of its intent as to whether or not the disciplinary matter will be arbitrated. The PSA must be the party taking the matter to arbitration.
- 10.4.7 The parties shall attempt to agree to the selection of an arbitrator and may agree to strike names from a list provided by an outside agency such as the State Mediation and Conciliation Service or JAMS. However, in the event that the City and the PSA cannot agree upon the selection of an arbitrator within twenty one (21) days from the date that the PSA has notified the City of its intent to proceed to Arbitration, either party may request the Superior Court of the County of San Mateo to appoint an arbitrator who shall be a retired judge of the Superior Court.
- 10.4.8 The City and PSA agree that the arbitrator shall prepare a written decision containing findings of fact, determinations of issues and a disposition either affirming, modifying or overruling the disciplinary action being appealed. The parties expressly agree that the arbitrator may only order as remedies those personnel actions which the City may lawfully impose.
- 10.4.9 The fees and expenses of the arbitrator (including the cost of any list of arbitrators) shall be shared equally by the City and PSA. All other expenses shall be borne by the party incurring them, and neither party shall be responsible for the expense of witnesses called by the other. Either party may request a certified court reporter to record the entire

arbitration hearing. By mutual agreement, the cost of the services of such court reporter shall be shared equally by the parties. However, each party shall be responsible for the cost of transcripts that they order.

10.4.10 Nothing herein constitutes a waiver of City or employee rights otherwise granted by law.

ARTICLE 11: RECOGNITION

The Menlo Park Police Sergeant's Association (PSA) is the exclusive recognized organization representing employees in the classification of Police Sergeant in their employer-employee relations with the City of Menlo Park, and PSA has been certified by the City of Menlo Park as the duly recognized employee organization of said employees. PSA requires proper and advance notification on all matters that fall into the meet and confer process.

ARTICLE 12: FULL UNDERSTANDING MODIFICATION AND WAIVER

- 12.1 This Memorandum of Understanding sets forth a full and entire understanding of the parties regarding the matters set forth herein, and any and all prior or existing Memoranda of Understanding, understandings and agreements regarding the matters set forth herein, whether formal or informal, are hereby superseded and terminated in their entirety.
- 12.2 No practice or benefit provided by this Memorandum of Understanding shall be modified without the mutual agreement of the City and PSA.

ARTICLE 13: SEPARABILITY

13.1 If a court of competent jurisdiction finally determines that any provisions of this Memorandum is invalid and unenforceable, such provisions shall be separable, and the remaining provisions of the Memorandum shall remain in full force and effect.

ARTICLE 14: LABOR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Effective for the term of this agreement, The City and PSA agree to the establishment of a Labor Management Committee (LMC) to serve as an advisory committee and to facilitate employee education and involvement in issues regarding CalPERS retirement benefits, including but not limited to, potential future costs increases and the impacts of said cost increases to the financial stability of the City.

The City and the PSA shall each select their own representatives and in equal number, with no more than three (3) on each side. Each side is encouraged to propose issues for discussion, and the committee will jointly set priorities. Decision making within this forum will be by consensus. The LMC will set up regular meetings to occur not less than once per quarter and a means for calling additional meetings to handle issues on an ad hoc basis.

The LMC is not authorized to meet and confer or create contractual obligations nor are they to change the MOU to authorize any practice in conflict with existing contracts or rules.

ARTICLE 15: EFFECT OF AGREEMENT

This Memorandum of Understanding sets forth the full and complete understanding be	etween the
parties hereto with respect to all subject matters addressed herein.	

Dated	
City of Menlo Park	Menlo Park Police Sergeants Association

Appendix A

Salary Schedule for Classified Police Sergeants (2080 hours) Effective: July 21, 2019 to July 4, 2020

Step	Annual	Monthly	Bi-Weekly	Hourly
A	\$123,191	\$10,265	\$4,738	\$59.2264
В	\$129,350	\$10,779	\$4,974	\$62.1875
С	\$135,818	\$11,318	\$5,223	\$65.2971
D	\$142,609	\$11,884	\$5,484	\$68.5620
Е	\$149,739	\$12,478	\$5,759	\$71.9899

Appendix B

Administration of Retirement Health Credits for Retirees

Nothing herein shall be deemed a change to the current practice of reimbursing retirees for retiree health premiums. This Appendix is intended to detail the existing practice.

The intent of the retiree health insurance credit program is to reimburse employees for the cost of retiree health premiums up to the amount to which they are entitled. It is not to provide an additional cash benefit to retirees over and above the cost of the premium. Should the current procedures that are administered through PEMHCA health and the Public Employees' Retirement System change, the intent shall remain as stated above.

Current Practice

Upon retirement, eligible employees may choose to convert all or any portion of their general leave balance up to the maximum to retirement health insurance credits at the rate they are eligible to receive as specified in Section 4.1. Retirees may elect single coverage, double coverage or family coverage in accordance with Sections 4.1.2 and 4.1.3.

PERS will deduct the premium for the health insurance plan selected by the retiree through PEMHCA health from their monthly pension warrant, less the minimum employer contribution, which is billed separately to the City.

The City will reimburse the retiree for the amount they are eligible to receive. The amount they are eligible to receive does not include the minimum employer contribution because it is not deducted from the retiree's pension warrant. In no event will the amount reimbursed exceed the cost of the premium to the retiree less the minimum employer contribution.

All reimbursements made to the retiree are subject to Federal and State taxes and shall be reported as income as required by law.

City of Menlo Park PROPOSED Salary Schedule - Effective 7/21/2019

Classification Title		n i na i was					Annual Salaries based on 2080 hours per year					
Classification Title	Minimum (Step A)			Step B Step			Step C		Maximum	(Step E)		
Accountant I	\$	82,778	\$	86,918	\$	91,264	\$	95,827 \$		100,6		
Accountant II	\$	90,666	\$	94,952	\$	99,432	\$	104,213 \$		109,18		
Accounting Assistant I	\$	58,702	\$	61,484	\$	64,323	\$	67,328 \$		70,4		
Accounting Assistant II	\$	64,323	\$	67,328	\$	70,443	\$	73,736 \$		77,19		
Administrative Assistant	\$	64,516	\$	67,530	\$	70,655	\$	73,958 \$		77,4		
Administrative Services Director	\$	160,531				pen Range		\$		227,4		
Assistant Administrative Services Director	\$	126,578				pen Range		\$		181,9		
Assistant City Manager	\$	169,530				pen Range		\$		250,1		
Assistant Community Development Director	\$	126,578			_	pen Range		\$		181,9		
Assistant Community Services Director	\$	129,495				pen Range		\$		181,9		
Assistant Engineer	\$		\$	104,597	\$	109,598	\$	114,831 \$		120,3		
Assistant Library Services Director	\$	129,495				pen Range		\$		181,9		
Assistant Planner	\$		\$	94,713		99,253	\$	103,983 \$		108,9		
Assistant Public Works Director	\$	140,650				pen Range		\$		181,9		
Assistant to the City Manager	\$	121,835	Φ.	447.004		pen Range	Φ.	\$		159,2		
Associate Civil Engineer	\$	112,028	\$	117,391		122,987		128,929 \$		135,1		
Associate Engineer	\$	105,867	\$	110,935		116,223		121,838 \$		127,7		
Associate Planner	\$	99,253	\$	103,983		108,950		114,163 \$		119,6		
Associate Transportation Engineer	\$	117,391	\$	122,987		128,929	\$	135,174 \$		141,7		
Asst. Public Works Director - Engineering	\$	140,650				pen Range		\$		181,9		
Asst. Public Works Director - Maintenance	\$	140,650			_	pen Range		\$		181,9		
Asst. Public Works Director - Transportation	\$	140,650				pen Range		\$		181,9		
Building Custodian	\$		\$	61,423	\$	64,259		67,261 \$		70,3		
Building Inspector	\$	96,166	\$	100,790		105,594		110,642 \$		115,9		
Business Manager	\$	99,250	\$	104,023		108,981	\$	114,192 \$		119,6		
Child Care Teacher I	\$,	\$	54,852		57,337		59,949 \$		62,7		
Child Care Teacher II	\$	58,643	\$	61,423		64,259		67,261 \$		70,3		
Child Care Teacher's Aide	\$	39,369	\$	41,150		43,012	\$	44,938 \$		46,9		
City Attorney	n/a					et by contract		\$		132,0		
City Clerk	\$	121,835				pen Range		\$		159,2		
City Manager	\$	197,605			_	pen Range		\$		272,9		
Code Enforcement Officer	\$	82,725	\$	86,635		90,722		95,086 \$		99,6		
Communications and Records Manager	\$	114,941	\$	120,520		126,308		132,399 \$		138,7		
Communications Dispatcher	\$	83,883	\$	87,848		91,993		96,416 \$		101,0		
Communications Training Dispatcher	\$	87,848	\$	91,993	\$	96,416	\$	101,012 \$		105,8		
Community Development Director	\$	160,316				pen Range		\$		227,4		
Community Development Technician	\$		\$	73,612		77,052		80,667 \$		84,4		
Community Service Officer	\$	68,789	\$	72,024	\$	75,359	\$	78,936 \$		82,7		
Community Services Director	\$	162,509				pen Range		\$		227,4		
Construction Inspector	\$,	\$	95,086		99,617		104,380 \$		109,3		
Contracts Specialist	\$	72,641	\$	76,057		79,579		83,356 \$		87,3		
Custodial Services Supervisor	\$		\$	70,601		73,900		77,368 \$		81,0		
Deputy City Clerk	\$	75,350	\$	78,936	\$	82,725	\$	86,635 \$		90,		
Deputy City Manager	\$	164,671			0	pen Range		\$		227,4		
Deputy Comm. Dev. Director - Housing	\$	126,553			0	pen Range		\$		170,		
Economic Development Manager	\$	121,835			0	pen Range		\$		159,2		
Ingineering Services Manager/City Engineer	\$	140,650				pen Range		\$		181,9		
Engineering Technician I	\$	75,624	\$	79,126	_	82,883	\$	86,860 \$		90,9		
Engineering Technician II	\$	84,779		88,768		92,942		97,398 \$		102,0		
Enterprise Applications Support Specialist I	\$	89,483		93,957		98,655		103,587 \$		108,		
Enterprise Applications Support Specialist II	\$	99,250		104,023		108,981		114,192 \$		119,6		
Equipment Mechanic	\$	75,350		78,936		82,725		86,635 \$		90,7		
Executive Assistant	\$	73,663		77,119		80,742		84,540 \$		88,		
Executive Assistant to the City Mgr	\$	78,474		82,398		86,518		90,844 \$		95,		
Facilities Maintenance Technician I	\$	62,785		65,676		68,789		72,024 \$		75,		
Facilities Maintenance Technician II	\$	68,789		72,024		75,359		78,936 \$		82,		
Finance and Budget Manager	\$	126,553	Ψ	12,024		pen Range	Ψ	\$		170,		
GIS Coordinator I	\$	86,844	\$	91,186		95,746	\$	100,534 \$		105,		
GIS Coordinator II	\$	99,250		104,023		108,981		114,192 \$		119,0		
Gymnastics Instructor	\$	42,010		43,910		45,893		47,941 \$		50.		
Housing & Economic Development Manager	\$	121,835	7	.0,010		pen Range		\$		159,		
Housing Manager	\$	121,835				pen Range		\$		159,		
Human Resources Director	\$	160,531				pen Range		\$		227,		
Human Resources Manager	\$	126,553				pen Range		\$		170,		
Human Resources Technician	\$	68,162	\$	71,387	\$	74,574	\$	78,213 \$		81,		
Information Technology Manager	\$	126,553	Ť	,007		pen Range		\$		170,		
Information Technology Specialist I	\$	73,419	\$	77,091		80,946	\$	84,994 \$		89,		
Information Technology Specialist II	\$	81,576		85,410		89,427		93,632 \$		98,		
Information Technology Supervisor	\$	100,584		105,613		111,171		117,023 \$		123,1		
Internal Services Manager	\$	126,553	Ÿ	100,010		pen Range	Ψ	\$		170,5		
Junior Engineer	\$ \$	80,540	\$	84,567		88,796	\$	93,236 \$		97,8		
	a)	00,040	Ψ	04,007	φ	00,190	Ψ	∂ ∂,∠∂0 Φ		91,0		

City of Menlo Park PROPOSED Salary Schedule - Effective 7/21/2019

Classification Title	M						a	per year		
	(Step A)		Step	Step B		Step C		Step D	Maximum	(Step E)
Librarian II	\$	78,936	•	82,725		86,635		90,722 \$		95,0
Library Assistant I	\$	- ,		57,337		59,949		62,785 \$		65,6
Library Assistant II	\$ \$			62,785		65,588		68,789 \$		72,0
Library Assistant III Library Services Director	•	65,588 156,348		68,789		72,024	Ф	75,359 \$		78,8
Library Services Manager	\$ \$	126,553				Range Range		\$ \$		227,4 170,5
Literacy Program Manager	\$ \$,	\$	84,813		88,801	Φ.	93,058 \$		97,4
Maintenance Worker I	\$	59,949		62,785		65,588		68,789 \$		72,0
Maintenance Worker II	\$			68,789		72,024		75,359 \$		78,9
Management Analyst I	\$	86,844		91,186		95,746		100,534 \$		105,5
Management Analyst II	\$		•	04,023		108,981		114,192 \$		119,6
Office Assistant	\$			56,329		58,878		61,668 \$		64,5
Parking Enforcement Officer	\$	59,949	\$	62,785	\$	65,588	\$	68,789 \$		72,0
Permit Manager	\$	112,897	\$ 1	18,298	\$	123,961	\$	129,869 \$		136,
Permit Technician	\$	70,355	\$	73,611	\$	77,052	\$	80,667 \$		84,4
Plan Check Engineer	\$	113,095	\$ 1	18,509	\$	124,158	\$	130,156 \$		136,4
Planning Technician	\$	80,667	\$	84,456	\$	88,430	\$	92,588 \$		97,0
Police Chief	\$	173,217			Open	Range		\$		250,1
Police Commander	\$	155,896			Open	Range		\$		227,4
Police Corporal (2080 hours)	\$	108,538	\$ 1	13,965	\$	119,663	\$	125,647 \$		131,9
Police Corporal (2184 hours)	\$		\$ 1	19,664	\$	125,647		131,929 \$		138,
Police Officer (2080 hours)	\$,	\$ 1	05,890	\$	111,185	\$	116,744 \$		122,5
Police Officer (2184 hours)	\$			11,185		116,744		122,581 \$		128,
Police Records Specialist	\$	65,588	\$	68,789		72,024	\$	75,359 \$		78,
Police Recruit	n/a				Hourly			\$		81,6
Police Sergeant (2080 hours)	\$	121,613	•	27,694	•	134,079		140,783 \$		147,
Police Sergeant (2080 hours)	\$	123,191		29,350		135,818		142,609 \$		149,
Police Sergeant (2184 hours)	\$	127,694	•	34,079	•	140,783		147,822 \$		155,
Police Sergeant (2184 hours)	\$	129,350		35,818		142,609		149,739 \$		157,
Principal Planner	\$	119,845		27,349		133,443		139,804 \$		144,
Program Accident	\$			39,369		41,150		43,012 \$		44,9
Program Assistant Project Manager	\$ \$,		56,104 10,935		58,643 116,223		61,423 \$ 121,838 \$		64,1 127,
Property and Court Specialist	\$	68,789		72,024		75,359		78,936 \$		82,
Public Engagement Manager	\$	126,553	Ψ	12,024		Range	Ψ	70,930 \$ \$		170,
Public Works Director	\$	164,671				Range		\$		227,
Public Works Superintendent	\$	124,351				Range		\$		170,
Public Works Supervisor - City Arborist	\$		\$ 1	04,598	\$	109,582	\$	114,817 \$		120,
Public Works Supervisor - Facilities	\$,	•	05,342	•	110,361		115,635 \$		121,
Public Works Supervisor - Fleet	\$			09,693		114,920		120,410 \$		126,
Public Works Supervisor - Park	\$			99,572	-	104,318		109,301 \$		114,
Public Works Supervisor - Streets	\$	95,018	\$	99,572	\$	104,318	\$	109,301 \$		114,
Recreation Coordinator	\$	70,601	\$	73,900	\$	77,368	\$	81,003 \$		84,
Recreation Supervisor	\$	86,915	\$	91,015	\$	95,392	\$	99,937 \$		104,
Revenue and Claims Manager	\$	99,250	\$ 1	04,023	\$	108,981	\$	114,192 \$		119,
Senior Accountant	\$	104,267	\$ 1	09,196	\$	114,347	\$	119,846 \$		125,
Senior Accounting Assistant	\$	70,755	\$	74,061	\$	77,488	\$	81,109 \$		84,
Senior Building Inspector	\$	107,932	\$ 1	13,095	\$	118,509	\$	124,158 \$		130,
Senior Civil Engineer	\$	123,383		29,344		135,610		142,181 \$		149,
Senior Communications Dispatcher	\$			96,416		101,012		105,841 \$		110,
Senior Engineering Technician	\$	90,967		95,259		99,840		104,597 \$		109,
Senior Equipment Mechanic	\$			86,949		91,039		95,255 \$		99,
Senior Facilities Maintenance Technician	\$		\$	78,936		82,725		86,635 \$		90,
Senior Information Technology Specialist	\$		\$	93,238	\$	97,900		102,795 \$		107,
Senior Librarian	\$			95,392		99,937		104,716 \$		109,
Senior Library Assistant	\$	72,147	•	75,668	•	79,226		82,895 \$		86,
Senior Maintenance Worker	\$			78,936		82,725		86,635 \$		90,
Senior Management Analyst	\$,		16,959		122,515		128,396 \$		134,
Senior Office Assistant	\$	58,878		61,668		64,516		67,530 \$		70,
Senior Planner	\$,		14,163		119,627		125,329 \$		131,
Senior Program Assistant	\$ \$			72,024		75,359		78,936 \$		82,
Senior Program Assistant Senior Project Manager	•			68,210		71,411		74,766 \$ 134,022 \$		78, 140
Senior Project Manager Senior Sustainability Specialist	\$ \$	116,454 81,721		22,028 85,631		127,846 89,729		94,007 \$		140, 98,
Senior Sustainability Specialist Senior Transportation Engineer	\$ \$			29,344		135,610				98, 149,
Senior Water System Operator	\$ \$	77,316		80,895		84,675		142,181 \$ 88,648 \$		92,
Sustainability Manager	\$ \$	121,835	Ψ	00,090		Range	Ψ	\$		159,
Sustainability Manager Sustainability Specialist	э \$	70,373	\$	73,663	-	77,119	\$	80,742 \$		84,
ransportation Demand Management Coord.	•	92,760						, .		
·	\$ \$		φ	97,179		101,822	Ф			111,8
Transportation Director	Ф	164,671			Open	Range		\$		227, ² 170, 5

City of Menlo Park PROPOSED Salary Schedule - Effective 7/21/2019

	Annual Salaries based on 2080 hours per year									
Classification Title	Minimum (Step A)				Step C		Step D		Maximum	(Step E)
Water Quality Specialist	\$	80,742	\$	84,540	\$	88,516	\$	92,760 \$		97,179
Water System Operator I	\$	64,244	\$	67,122	\$	70,099	\$	73,563 \$		76,987
Water System Operator II	\$	70,287	\$	73,541	\$	76,977	\$	80,589 \$		84,375
Water System Supervisor	\$	96,222	\$	100,808	\$	105,624	\$	110,678 \$		115,975

RESOLUTION NO. 6514

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MENLO PARK ADOPTING THE SALARY SCHEDULE EFFECTIVE JULY 21, 2019

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Personnel System Rules, the city manager prepared a compensation plan; and

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the City of Menlo Park, acting by and through its City Council, having considered and been fully advised in the matter and good cause appearing therefore do hereby establish the following compensation provisions in accordance with the City's personnel system rules.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that any previous enacted compensation provisions contained in Resolution No.6506 and subsequent amendments, shall be superseded by this Resolution.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the changes contained herein shall be effective as noted on each amended salary schedule.

I, Judi A. Herren, City Clerk of Menlo Park, do hereby certify that the above and foregoing City Council Resolution was duly and regularly passed and adopted at a meeting by said City Council on the sixteenth day of July, 2019, by the following votes:

AYES:
NOES:
ABSENT:
ABSTAIN:
N WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the Official Seal of said City on this sixteenth day of July, 2019.
Judi A. Herren, City Clerk